
1 DAVID C. SHONKA 
Acting General Counsel 

2 
TRACY S. THORLEIFSON 

3 tthorleifsonlalfti;g9v 
DAVID M. HOKN 

4 ~I1ft&f0v 
5 mkimlalftc.gov 

Federat'Traae Commission 
6 915 Second Avenue, Suite 2896 

Seatt1~ Washin~on 98174 

7 t~8~ ~~8=~~~g t¥~c~e) 
8 

Jennifer M. Brennao" Cal Bar No. 225473 
9 10877 Wilshire Blvu." Suite 700 -

Los Angeles CA 900:L4 
10 (310) 824-4343, jmbrennao@ftc.gov 

11 ATTORNEYS FORPLAlNTIFF 

12 UNITED STAlES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 130 Td
2C
-0.035 Tc 5.9993 0 0 12.1 333.02 429.85 Tm
(_. )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0.0495 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 20.42 402.13 Tm
(15.F:EDERA;l. )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0.0026 Tc 7.043 0 Td
(tE:APECO:(vIMISSION" )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0.05 Tc 13.4806 0 0 13.3 258.56 402.13 Tm
(.. )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
-0.0134 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 300.1 405 Tm
(Civil )Tj
EMC 
ET
BT
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0095 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 328.65 405 Tm
(Action )Tj
0.0083 Tc 2.957 0 Td
(No. )Tj
ET
BT
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0081 Tc 12.8 0 0 12.8 392.99 405 Tm
(CV09 )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/C0_0 1 Tf
0 Tc 5.9041 0 0 12.9601 427.68 405 Tm
<007E00330035003300330020>Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.05 Tc 13.9677 0 0 12.8 460.41 405 Tm
(ARM )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
8.0551 0 0 2.9001 497.51 405 Tm
(nt-)Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0 Tc 2.9001 0 0 2.9001 507.19 405 Tm
(" )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0.05 Tc 6.3856 0 0 2.9001 512.87 405 Tm
(.. )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
8.287 0 0 8.1 516.59 405 Tm
(nn.)Tj
0 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 528.07 399.61 Tm
(x)Tj
0.458 0.405 Td
() )Tj
EMC 
ET
BT
/T1_1 1 Tf
-0.0055 Tc 11.7 0 0 11.7 19.75 379.45 Tm
(16 )Tj
ET
BT
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/T1_1 1 Tf
0 Tc 11.7 0 0 11.7 42.34 379.45 Tm
(-)Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0.524 0 Td
(' )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
-0.035 Tc 9.3751 0 0 11.7 54.89 379.45 Tm
(.. )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0.0133 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 154.02 381.24 Tm
(Plaintiff. )Tj
EMC 
ET
BT
/T1_1 1 Tf
-0.035 Tc 11.6832 0 0 12.8 19.75 354.24 Tm
(17 )Tj
13.1925 0 0 13.3 84.57 359.65 Tm
(v. )Tj
11.2803 0 0 12.8 19.77 332.65 Tm
 
(18 )Tj
0.0205 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 49.29 337.68 Tm
(AMERICAN )Tj
ET
BT
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0175 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 125.25 337.68 Tm
(VE1ERANS )Tj
EMC 
ET
BT
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0164 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 198.66 337.68 Tm
(RELIEF )Tj
ET
BT
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0372 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 299.74 337.68 Tm
(Complaint )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/C0_0 1 Tf
0 Tc 9.2161 0 0 11.1601 48.97 325.45 Tm
<0046004F0055004E0044004100540049004F007E0020>Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.05 Tc 17.2061 0 0 13.3 145.29 325.45 Tm
(lNfu )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
0.0163 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 179.5 325.45 Tm
(COALITION )Tj
EMC 
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
-0.0106 Tc 5.792 0 Td
(OF )Tj
EMC 
ET
BT
/T1_1 1 Tf
-0.035 Tc 11.6832 0 0 12.8 19.39 310.68 Tm
(19 )Tj
ET
BT
/Suspect <</Conf 0 >>BDC 
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0237 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 48.9 316.08 Tm
(POLICE )Tj
EMC 
ET
BT
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0026 Tc 13.3 0 0 13.3 100.41 316.08 Tm
(AND )Tj
A E1A E1A E1A E17i20ND COALITION 



1 Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") for its complaint alleges: 

2 1. The FTC brings this action under §§ 13(b) and 19 of the Federal 

3 Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b) and 



1 or practices. The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by 

2 its own attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and the TSR, and to secure 

3 such equitable relief as may be appropriate in each case, including restitution and 

4 disgorgement. 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b), 57b, 6102(c), and 6105(b). 

5 DEFENDANTS 

6 6. American Veterans Relief Foundation, Inc. ("A VRF"), is located at 

7 2521 North Grand Avenue, Suite D, Santa Ana, CA. Articles of incorporation 

8 representing that A 6105(U 2A5bz2 Tm
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1 DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS PRACTICES 

2 12. Born of a criminal enterprise, A VRF, COPS, and DFF are sham 

3 nonprofits, created and perpetuated to provide steady employment to a handful of 

4 individuals and the for-profit telemarketers with which the entities contract. None 

5 operates as a bona fide nonprofit whose primary purpose is to serve the public 

6 interest. Rather, A VRF, COP S and DFF are instrumentalities of private persons 
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1 16. Following the move, although nominally staying separate, A VRF, 

2 



1 private interests of individual defendants Duncan, Rose, and Clinkenbeard and 

2 their telemarketers, A VRF, COPS, and DFF fail to observe normal nonprofit 

3 corporate governance procedures. They have no annual budgets, no mission-

4 related goals, and no strategic or fmancial planning related to programming. The 

5 corporate directors - two in addition to the president per organization - are 

6 personal friends or relatives of Duncan and Rose. They exercise no oversight or 

7 control over Duncan and Rose, allowing them to set their own salaries and hire 

8 relatives, and authorizing them to control organizational checking accounts without 

9 any oversight or review. In fact, the corporate directors do very little. They do not 

10 review corporate decisions, set policy, authorize solicitation materials, or approve 

11 payments to officers, employees, or grant recipients. Minutes from official board 

12 meetings reflect virtually no official board actions and show that meetings last for 

l3 less than 30 minutes, on the two to three times per year when they are held. 

14 21. A VRF, COPS, and DFF have no volunteers or members working to 

15 support their purported charitable purposes. Other than Duncan and Rose, the 

16 employees all work solely to support the business of fundraising - recruiting and 

17 contracting with telemarketers, processing and depositing donor checks, 

18 booldceeping, and handling complaint calls. Nor do the organizations have any 

19 source of income apart from the telemarketing. The charitable programming itself 

20 is driven by the telemarketing, with efforts made to direct grants to states where 

21 telemarketers are located. Telemarlceters acting on behalf of the entities are neither 

22 investigated initially, before contracts are signed, nor monitored or reviewed 

23 subsequently, even when complaints suggest there may be problems with the 

24 telemarketers' practices. 

25 The flllldraisilig operatioll 

26 22. A VRF, COPS, and DFF contract with about 20 different telemarketers 

27 across the country to solicit donations in their names. Most telemarketers solicit 

28 for all three organizations. The contracts, which are virtually identical, assign to 
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1 asking about donor complaints. She is also charged with making sure that the 

2 telemarketer is appropriately registered in each jurisdiction where it will be 

3 soliciting. Clinkenbeard is a salaried employee of A VRF, COPS, and DFF, and 

4 was not an officer or director of any of them. 

5 Misrepresentations abollt charitable programs 

6 27. The telemarketing scripts, brochures, and other solicitation materials 

7 describe to donors the worthwhile programs that contributions will supposedly 

8 fund. Central to the success of the appeal is the overarching claim, both express 

9 and implied, that donated funds go to a bona fide charity whose primary purpose is 

10 to serve the public interest. Here, donated funds go first to the telemarketers who 

11 solicit the donations, then for compensation to the officers and employees of the 

12 organizations, and then, only after those private. interests are served, does the 

13 remaining pittance go to charitable programs. 

14 28. In part because the vast majority of funds raised in the names of 

15 A VRF, COPS, and DFF is spent on fundraising and administrative expenses, in 

16 numerous instances claims made to donors about specific programs undertaken by 

17 A VRF, COPS, and DFF are false. 

18 AVRF 

19 29. One such false claim is made by A VRF about "Operation 

20 Homefront." In solicitation materials written by A VRF and disseminated to 

21 donors, A VRF represents that it runs "Operation Homefront," a substantial, bona 

22 fide program that provides fmancial assistance to the families of American soldiers 

23 fighting overseas. A VRF also claims that consumers' donations will be used to 

24 provide care packages to veterans in VA hospitals nationwide, and to provide 

25 fmancial support for veterans' memorials. In addition, the A VRF solicitation 

26 materials strongly imply that the consumer's donation is going to a legitimate 

27 nonprofit that will spend a meaningful amount of the money raised on the 

28 programs and activities described to the donor. 
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1 30. The claims about A VRF's programs are not true. Despite prominently 

2 featuring "Operation Home Front" in its brochure, and extensively discussing the 

3 needs faced by families of soldiers serving overseas, virtually none of donors' 

4 money goes to such families. Nor does A VRF provide care packages to more than 

5 a small number of veterans in a few VA hospitals - some 350 packages split 

6 among half a dozen VA hospitals in five states once a year at Christmas - a far cry 

7 from the ongoing, nationwide program described in the A VRF solicitation 

8 materials. Moreover, A VRF provides no financial assistance to veterans' 

9 memorials. 

10 31. What little funds A VRF does spend on charitable program have been 

11 used to provide cash grants of $250 to $350 to approximately 250 veterans a year 

12 and a handful of VA hospitals. Even this effort falls short of a legitimate program. 

13 A VRF has no written qualifications for receipt ofthe cash grants, no program to 

14 screen applicants for need or eligibility, and, other than requiring an honorable 

15 discharge, no criteria for evaluating applications. The so-called American Veterans 

16 Relief Foundation is not a Foundation, provides little relief to only a few veterans, 

17 and exists almost solely for the purpose of paying its officers, employees, and 

18 telemarketers. 

19 COPS 

20 32. The COPS deception begins with its very name. Consumers, told that 

21 their donations will go to the Coalition of Police and Sheriffs, reasonably believe 

22 that the organization is a coalition with members who are police or sheriffs. This 

23 belief is fostered by the ubiquitous image of a police badge on materials sent to 

24 donors, and the promise in the COPS brochure that COPS charges "no membership 

25 dues." COPS, however, is not a coalition and it has no "members" who are police 

26 officers or sheriffs. 

27 33. The solicitation materials provided by COPS to its telemarketers and 

28 disseminated by them to donors make additional misrepresentations. Through its 
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1 disseminated to donors - also malce misrepresentations. Its telephone scripts, 

2 brochures, and thank you letters, claim that DFF operates a substantial, bona fide 

3 program to assist firefighters injured in the line of duty and the survivors of 

4 firefighters killed in the line of duty. Through its "Cash Benefit Program" and its 

5 "Death Benefit Program" DFF claims to provide benefits to "qualified" disabled 

6 frrefighters and their families. Donors are told that DFF focuses on providing 

7 benefits especially during the specific interval between the injury or death and the 

8 onset of official government assistance. Benefits are to cover medical coverage, 

9 memorial services, costs not covered by their department, and other expenses. 

10 Through its use of words such as "program," "qualified," and "application 

11 process," DFF implies that it routinely reviews applications using specific criteria c o v e r 1 6 T j 
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1 misrepresentations can be express, as when donors are 



1 VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE FTC ACT 

2 40. Section Sea) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 4S(a), prohibits "unfair or 

3 deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce." 

4 COUNT ONE 

5 MISREPRESENTATION THAT DONATION IS FOR CHARITY 

6 41. In numerous instances, in connection with soliciting charitable 

7 contributions from donors, defendants, directly or through their telemarketers, have 

8 represented, expressly or by implication, that the donor's contribution will go to a 

9 legitimate charitable organization whose primary purpose is to serve the public 

10 good by assisting veterans, police, or fIrefIghters. 

11 42. In truth and in fact, the donor's contribution does not go to a 
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1 b. help COPS operate specific, substantial charitable programs that 

2 1) assist qualified police officers injured in the line of duty, and their families, by 

3 paying mortgages, auto loans, and medical bills, and other costs not covered by 

4 their departments; and 2) provide a scholarship program to disabled officers and 

5 their families; and 

6 c. help DFF operate a specific, substantial charitable program that assists 

7 qualified disabled firefighters injured in the line of duty, especially during the 

8 interval between the injury or death and the onset of official government benefits, 

9 by providing cash benefits to pay necessary living expenses such as mortgages, 

10 rent, medical coverage, and costs not covered by their departments; and to provide 

11 death benefits to the families of frrefighters killed in the line of duty. 

12 45. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, little or none of the 

13 consumers' donations fund the particular charitable programs described to them, 

nuooc2  the onssumers' donations 



1 rent, medical coverage, and costs not covered by their departments; and to provide 

2 death benefits to the families of firefighters killed in the line of duty. 

3 46. Therefore, the representations described in Paragraph 44 are false and 

4 misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section Sea) of 

5 the 



1 COUNT FIVE 

2 MEANS AND INSTRUMENTALITIES 

3 53. In numerous instances, in connection with soliciting charitable 

4 contributions from donors, defendants, individually or in concert with others, have 

5 provided their telemarketers with the means and instrumentalities to deceive 

6 donors, as described in Paragraphs 41 - 52 above. The means and instrumentalities 

7 that defendants have provided include but are not limited to affiliation with a 

8 purported nonprofit organization in whose name solicitations can be made and 

9 telemarketing scripts and other solicitation materials, such as brochures, donor 

10 invoices, decals, and thank you letters, that describe the purported programs of 

11 AVRF, COPS andDFF. 

12 54. By providing the means and instrumentalities to others for the 
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1 customer or donor." 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(bb). 

2 59. The TSR defines "telemarketing" to mean "a plan, program, or 

3 campaign which 



1 consciously avoicling knowing that the telemarketers are engaged in acts or 

2 practices that violate Sections 3 1 0.3 (a) (4) and 31O.3(d)(1), (3), (4) and (6) of the 

3 TSR, thereby violating Section 310.3(b) ofthe TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

4 INJURY TO THE PUBLIC INTEREST 

5 65. Consumers, charitable organizations, and the public interest have all 

6 suffered injury as a result of defendants' violations of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act 

7 and the TSR. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of 

8 their unlawful practices. Absent injunctive relief by this Court, defendants are 

9 Wcely to continue to injure consumers and charitable organizations, reap unjust 

10 enrichment, and harm the public interest. 

11 TillS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

12 66. Section l3(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53 (b), empowers this Court 

13 to grant injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt 

14 and redress violations of the FTC Act and the TSR. The Court, in the exercise of its 

15 equitable jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission of contracts 

16 and restitution, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to prevent and remedy 

17 any violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. 

18 67. Section 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b, and Section 6(b) of the 

19 Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(b), authorize this Court to grant such relief as 

20 the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers resulting from defendants' 

21 violations of the TSR, inclucling the rescission and reformation of contracts, and 

22 the refund of money. 

23 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

24 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission, pursuant to Sections 

25 l3(b) and 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b) and 57b, and Section 6(b) of the 

26 Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(b), and the Court's own equitable powers, 

27 requests that the Court: 

28 (1) Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC 
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1 Act and the TSR by defendants; 

2 (2) Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

3 consumers resulting from the defendants' violations of the FTC Act and the TSR, 

4 including but not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the 

5 refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; and 

6 (3) Award the FTC the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

7 and additional equitable relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

_---''--___ , 2009. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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Acting General Counsel 

CHARLES A. HARWOOD 
Regional Director 
TRACY S. THORLEIFSON 
DAVID M. HORN 
MIRYKJM 
JENNIFER M. BRENNAN 
AttorneYE; for Plaintiff 
FederalTrade Commission 

By:~~ 
Jennifer M. Bre=an 




